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			I

			Wilderness

			Why all this fuss about one of the oldest 

			and most useful professions in the world?

			—Author unknown

			Letter to the Times, May 1960

			§1

			West Berlin: June 28, 1963

			He took Berlin.

			Wilderness had done stupid things in his time. Stupid things. Unforgivable things. The only person who would not forgive him this time was Wilderness himself.

			He took Berlin.

			Why, after all this time, had he got involved with Frank Spoleto again? Was once not enough? Had he not learnt the lesson? You can lead a horse to water but you’ll never make him trust anyone called Frank?

			He took Berlin.

			It was a ludicrous scheme from the start . . . to smuggle a nuclear physicist, a veteran of the Manhattan Project, out of East Berlin using the same tunnel they had used to smuggle coffee, sugar, and God-knew-what during the airlift in ’48. Ludicrous? Crazy. Just asking to get caught.

			He took Berlin . . . Berlin took him . . . Wilderness was in the Charlottenburg nick, on the Ku’damm. He’d denied everything. He wasn’t at all sure how long he could keep this up. 

			Shooting Marte Mayerling had been a mistake. She’d slipped behind him dressed as a rubble lady, a Trümmerfrau, and he’d shot on instinct, shot on memory. For a moment, too long a moment, he and Nell Burkhardt had stood riveted to the spot, unbelieving, her hand wrapped around his. Then the mirror cracked and he had ripped up his shirt to stuff a finger in the dam wall and stanch the flow of blood. Nell had got rid of the gun. Surely she had? With any luck it was gone for good. He’d never see the gun again. He’d never see Nell again.

			Berlin took him.

			A squad car. An ambulance. A vanload of coppers. Then the slow crawl, hand on horn, honking a way through the surging crowds of Kennedy supporters back to the Ku’damm. A grey cell and black coffee.

			As coppers went, this lot were civilised. No one had hit him, no one had so much as raised their voice to him. He had not asked for a lawyer; he had simply asked, repeatedly, that they charge him or let him go. For all his time in Berlin he still had no idea how long they could hold him. Only when the shift had changed and a day copper, a burly sergeant in his forties, had recognised him from the old days just after the war—“You used to sell me black-market NAAFI coffee. You und liddle Eddie. Im Tiergarten”—did it begin to seem inevitable that a chain of connection and causality would be set off that would lead him to this moment. The moment Burne-Jones walked in.

			“You should have sent for me at once.”

			“I resigned two years ago. You surely haven’t forgotten?”

			“You know, Joe, when I have your balls in my fist, sarcasm is really rather ill advised.”

			“Alec, I would never have sent for you. It’s all too . . .”

			“Too what? Too bloody familiar?”

			Wilderness could not deny that.

			It wasn’t just familiar; it was almost a carbon copy. Tempelhof, or thereabouts, that cold autumn of 1948, the height (or was it depths?) of the blockade. Lying in a makeshift, prefab hospital in the American Sector with a Russian bullet in his side. Rescued, promoted to a rank he’d never surpass, and thoroughly bollocked.

			“Sign here.”

			“Eh?”

			“Sign on the dotted, Joe, and all this will just go away.”

			Wilderness read the page in front of him.

			“So . . . I’m re-enlisting?”

			Burne-Jones said nothing. Just stared back at him, accepting no contradiction.

			Wilderness turned the page around to show him.

			“There’s a typo. The date’s wrong. You’ve typed 1961 instead of 1963.”

			“Just sign.”

			“If I sign this, it’s as though I never left. It’s dated the same day I resigned.”

			“Quite.”

			“Quite my arse. It means all the time I’ve been here I have technically been working for you.”

			“And how else do you think I could get you out? The West Berliners want your guts for garters. You were found with a half-dead woman clutching a smoking gun.”

			“No, Alec, that is not the case. There was no gun.”

			“Oh. Got rid of it did you?”

			Wilderness said nothing.

			“Well . . . it will put in a ghostly appearance when these dozy buggers get around to testing your clothes for powder residue, so I suggest we get out now. They won’t like it; after all it’s a stark reminder that they don’t run their own city and that what we and the Americans say counts for a damn sight more than what the chief of the West Berlin Police says. Sign, and it, whatever it is, becomes an Intelligence matter. Sign and walk, or keep up this nonsensical surliness and get charged with attempted murder.”

			Wilderness signed.

			The sense that once again Alec Burne-Jones had him by the balls was palpable. A tightening in the groin demanding all the flippancy he could muster.

			As they stepped out into the summer sunshine on the Kurfürstendamm, Wilderness blinked, looked at Burne-Jones and said, “You owe me two years’ back pay.”

			And Burne-Jones said, “Joe, how exactly did you get rid of the gun?”

			§2

			The zoo, West Berlin: June 26

			Marte Mayerling might well die. Wilderness dropped the gun, threw off his jacket and tore at the tails of his shirt to stanch the flow of blood from the wound in her side.

			Nell seemed frozen, standing over him in silent shock.

			Marte Mayerling was far from silent.

			“So, he shoots me . . .” over and over again, a mantra of delirium, the deathly high that is blood loss.

			“Nell . . .”

			“Joe?”

			“Take the gun. Take my passport and go.”

			Nell snapped out of her trance and rummaged in his jacket for the passport.

			Wilderness took his hands off Mayerling for a moment, the blood surging up again, slipped out of his shoulder holster and threw it to Nell.

			“Get to the zoo station, call an ambulance and then disappear.”

			“Disappear?”

			“Nell, vanish . . . you were never here.”

			He pressed down on the wound. Mayerling’s insane chant grew softer and softer. She might die on him any minute and the only plus to that scenario would be her silence. She might die before the ambulance arrived. She might die just to spite him.

			Time melted at his fingertips. He had no idea how long he leaned on her. His hands went numb. Fifteen minutes? An hour? It seemed to him an age since she had spoken. He heard the sound of sirens approaching, and Mayerling stirred again, one last croaking complaint of “He shoots me . . . so he shoots me . . . ” Then they were there, a white-suited ambulance crew, a huge Daimler ambulance and seconds behind them West Berlin coppers in their tiny Opel, guns at the ready.

			§3

			West Berlin: June 28

			“Not going to tell me, eh?”

			They headed back along the Kurfürstendamm to the Kempinski Hotel. The summer light still striking Wilderness like pinpricks after a day and a half in windowless cells. He wanted out of the ill-fitting clothes the West Berlin Police had lent him when they’d stripped him of the remains of his blood-soaked suit. He wanted a bath and breakfast. Burne-Jones wanted answers he was never going to get.

			“Alec, there was no gun when the cops got there; that is all you need to know.”

			“Fine, Joe. Just tell me they’ll never find it. They’re dredging the Landwehr. Tell me it’s not there.”

			“It isn’t. All coppers are thick. German coppers might be thicker than most. I’m not. Dump it in the canal? Not bloody likely.”

			Coffee never tasted so good. A delightful morning scorch. There was a time, an age ago, when Wilderness had smuggled so much coffee the smell clung to him, unscrubbable, and set dogs barking in the street. And for a while he found he could not bear to drink the stuff. He brought home exotic teas, stolen from the PX or the NAAFI . . . Jacksons of Piccadilly’s “Finest Earl Grey.” Nell had asked who Earl Grey was. He’d no idea, now or then.

			The dining room at the Kempinski was almost empty. They caught the last shift of waiters serving breakfast, and over scrambled eggs and croissants he told Burne-Jones as little as he thought he could get away with.

			Every so often Burne-Jones would put a hand to his forehead as though about to mutter “Jesus wept,” but he never did. Wilderness did not mention the fifty thousand dollars Frank Spoleto had promised him, now floating off up the Swanee. He did not mention Nell, and in conclusion, dismissed his attempt to smuggle Marte Mayerling, nuclear physicist, from East Berlin to Israel as “a bit cockamamy.”

			At last Burne-Jones said, “Frank Spoleto cooked this up?”

			“Frank . . . and the Company.”

			“It’s not as cockamamy as you might think. Not that I could see our people approving, but it has a certain . . . je ne sais quoi . . . a certain ‘balls’ to it.”

			“Do our people need to know?”

			Burne-Jones strung this one out. It seemed to Wilderness that he wanted to inflict some semblance of punishment on him—the price of rescue.

			“Need to know? No. Do they know? That’s a tricky one. The copper who recognised you went through channels to find me. Showed initiative, contacted ‘our man in Berlin,’ Dick Delves, whom I can assume you assiduously avoided . . .”

			“Damn right I did.”

			“But I have no idea how many ears pricked up between here and London at the mention of your name and a dead German woman.”

			“She died? I thought you said ‘half-dead’?”

			“No . . . half dead is half alive after all. ‘Dead’ was just an assumption on someone’s part. She pulled through. She’s in the hospital on Kantstraße. You probably saved her life. I gather they pumped endless pints of blood into her and she’s stable. Nobody knew her name, she had no papers on her, and you were saying nothing, but when she came to she told them she was Hannah Schneider, and I assume that was the cover name you or Spoleto assigned her. I wasn’t wholly sure who she was until you just told me.”

			“Shocking, isn’t it?”

			“Quite. And I rather think I have to get you out of Berlin before honesty overtakes her and she tells the coppers who she really is.”

			Wilderness could not think why she hadn’t told them already.

			“I need a little time.”

			“You don’t have any time.”

			“A day, two at the most. There are loose ends. You have been telling me for nearly twenty years now never to leave loose ends.”

			“Joe, go back to London. Go back to London and look to your marriage.”

			“To my marriage?”

			“Why? Do you think I could conceal from my own daughter that you were in jail?”

			“We’ve both of us a cellarful of secrets from our wives.”

			“Quite. But this could not be one of them. Go home and repair your marriage.”

			The inherent conflict between the roles of boss and father-in-law had almost never surfaced in the eight years Wilderness had been married to Judy Jones. It required juggling, and juggle they both did. But it sat like a stubborn knot in the old school tie between them now. Wilderness wondered which Burne-Jones he was appealing to as he said, “Tomorrow, I’ll get myself back to London—tomorrow. I’ll fix whatever needs to be fixed. But if you spirit me away today, it will come back to haunt us.”

			Burne-Jones abandoned the attempt to stare him down, got up from his chair all but sighing, and whispered a parting “My God, Joe. What have you done?”

			And from where Wilderness sat that seemed all too familiar.

			§4

			He could have let her die. He could have let her die but the thought had not crossed his mind until now. He could have walked away and let her die, vanished into the crowds chanting “Ken-ne-dy!” and no one would be the wiser. But the thought had not crossed his mind until now.

			He walked the half mile to the hospital, the litter from the Kennedy celebrations strewn everywhere, blowing in the wind, gathering in the gutters. He’d glanced at the front page of the Tribune in the bar at the Kempinski. JFK’s rapturous reception, the made-for-TV tag line “Ich bin ein Berliner.” And he could hear Nell’s voice in that. Her habitual cry, her ethical position, her reason to come back to the ruins of Berlin summed up in four words. He could see the last of Nell, walking—no, running—away from him as he knelt over Marte Mayerling, nursing the wound he’d inflicted on her.

			Now—looking down at Marte Mayerling. Still and silent, a drip in her right arm, an oxygen tube clipped to her nose. A nurse who had told him to keep it brief. 

			Her eyes flickered open, took in the man before her.

			“Again, Mr. Johnson? Again? What could you possibly want with me?”

			She spoke in English. Just as well. Wilderness wanted as few people as possible within earshot to understand what he or she might say.

			“What can you possibly want from me?”

			“Not much. Just to see with my own eyes that you were alive.”

			“So, you didn’t mean to kill me?”

			“I’ve only ever killed one man. And the only man I’ve ever wanted to kill killed himself before my eyes.”

			“Ah . . . I understand now. I am to receive your confession. I am to absolve you of your sin.”

			It took a moment or two before Wilderness realised that the wheezing cackle arising from her throat was laughter.

			He turned to leave; there was nothing more to be said. Inwardly he kicked himself for the weakness that had led him there.

			“Mr. Johnson.”

			Wilderness turned back. As much as she could, Mayerling had twisted her neck to see him more clearly.

			“They tell me I will live. I may be here a week or more, and after that weeks more in recuperation.”

			It was at this point Wilderness thought she might be waiting on the words “I’m sorry,” which he was never going to utter.

			“I will have ample to time to reflect upon my folly and yours. No matter. I doubt I will change my mind. So I will give you the reassurance you seek but will not ask for. It was a scheme thought up by madmen. I was an idiot not to see it for what it was. You were an idiot not to see it for what it was. But it is over. I shall live and you shall face whatever fate awaits you, but it is over. No bomb, no Israel. Genug. 

			“I am an Austrian. Austria exists once more. I shall go home . . . not a word I ever thought I would use again . . . feel again. I shall go home. If you have a home, Mr. Johnson, go to it. Go to it and count yourself lucky.”

			Again Wilderness turned to leave. Again she called him back.

			“Mr. Johnson? That is not your real name. Do you have papers in the name of Johnson?”

			“Of course.”

			“Forgeries?”

			“Only insofar as I’m not James Johnson.”

			She pondered this a second, and it seemed to Wilderness she had discerned his meaning.

			“But you can obtain forgeries.”

			And he hers.

			“What name would you like, Dr. Mayerling?”

			“Hannah Schneider of course.”

			Of course. He and Frank Spoleto had renamed her. 

			“German?”

			“Austrian. Born second of May 1913. My real birth date. Then I won’t forget it. Can you do this?”

			“Yes.”

			“And get it to me?”

			“Someone can bring it to you, yes.”

			“Then . . . strange as it may seem, Mr. Johnson, I wish you well. Bon voyage.”

			§5

			Everyone was telling him to go home.

			He went instead to a building that had been home for nearly two years not long after the war, to Grünetümmlerstraße, where he and Nell Burkhardt had lived like squirrels in a sprawling room under the eaves, freezing in the fuel-starved winters of Berlin’s broken years and sweltering in the summers. On the floor below them had lived, and still lived, Erno Schreiber. 

			Wilderness stood on the top floor in the empty room, looking at the scars of past lives, of the lives he and Nell had had together, mentally replacing every stick of furniture. He’d come to Berlin with no expectation of seeing Nell and none that she would want to see him. Seeing her at all just before the Hannah Schneider cock-up had been chance—pure chance and disaster.

			Erno must have heard his feet on the bare boards and shuffled up the stairs, carpet slippers and cardigan, whatever the weather.

			“Eh, Joe.”

			“What have you heard, Erno?”

			“Come downstairs. I have a fire of nicely burning evidence. Come warm yourself at the flames of guilt.”

			Light scarcely penetrated Erno’s room. The seasons never changed. Something always to be concealed from the sun, something always needing to be consumed by fire.

			Erno stuck a mug of black coffee in Wilderness’s hands, flicked open the stove door, raked through the “evidence.” Eulenspiegel the cat wove his way between Wilderness’s legs, motor running.

			“I heard,” Erno began. “That things did not go exactly as planned.”

			“Nell?”

			“Yes. Nell. She came here before breakfast yesterday. I have your gun and your passport—the fake I made you in the name of Schellenberg.”

			“Keep ’em, Erno. Just in case hang on to them.”

			“Will anyone come looking?

			“Doubt it. Burne-Jones is here to bail me out. And Marte Mayerling wants to put it all behind her.”

			“Großer Gott. Why?”

			“I don’t know. What was it you said about masks? About Hannah Schneider being the assumption of innocence on her part?”

			“Not quite. Are you saying she wants to stay as Hannah Schneider? To become Hannah Schneider?”

			“Oh yes.” 

			“And how do you know?”

			“I went to see her in hospital, the one on Kantstraße.”

			“Oi, Joe.”

			“She wants a passport in her new name. Austrian, born second of May 1913. I’ll pay. Can you do it? I don’t have a photograph. You’ll just have to bluff your way in there.”

			“Perhaps a bedside visit from her old ‘Uncle Otto’ and his trusty little Minox camera. But I shall have to bite my tongue to avoid asking her a thousand questions. It is most intriguing.”

			“You said it yourself . . . something like ‘it is Freud’s own mask.’”

			“Joe, I say so many things.”

			“Don’t piss on it, Erno. You know what I’m talking about. So why is she doing this? Why is she not screaming it all from the rooftops? Where is your man Freud in all this?”

			Erno shrugged, stared into the fire for a moment.

			“From middle age onwards, and you are not yet there my boy, life is perceived as a series of regrets. I know few middle-aged men who do not have a mental checklist of life’s might-have-beens. I know men to whom you could sell second chances . . . like some goblin in a Grimms’ tale . . . popping up to tell you that every mistake you have ever made can be undone . . . that the second chance is there for the taking. You maybe did not know it, and I am damn sure Frank Spoleto didn’t, but when you dangled the prospect of freedom in front of Marte Mayerling you held up second chances the woman never knew she wanted. After all, regret is such a male notion. But, she is a woman in man’s world . . . beating men at their own game. And on some other level of consciousness, I will not go so far as to say ‘unconscious,’ the freedom she wanted was not to split more atoms, to make more bombs, it was to be Hannah Schneider. Frank chose the plainest of Jewish names and in so doing gave her exactly what she did not know she wanted.”

			“When she came out of the tunnel . . . I didn’t recognise her . . . she was dressed as Hannah Schneider, a dowdy little Jewish hausfrau . . . she looked like . . . like . . .”

			“Like Yuri Myshkin the night he shot you back in ’48?”

			“Yes.”

			“So you shot first?”

			It didn’t need an answer.

			“Speaking of Major Myshkin, I also have . . .”

			Erno reached to the mantelpiece above the stove. Handed Wilderness a rusty key.

			Wilderness looked down at the key to the tunnel’s entrance in the Soviet Sector nestling in the palm of his hand.

			“Nell left it with the gun and the passport.”

			“She must have found it in my pocket. I wonder if she even knows what it is.”

			“Am I to keep this too?”

			“Why not? A souvenir of human folly. As Dr. Mayerling said . . . it was a scheme dreamt up by madmen. I can’t imagine I’ll ever need this again.”

			“Who knows . . . folly is like regret . . . it knows no limits.”

			Wilderness turned the key over in his hand, said, “I need to see Nell. Can you tell me where she lives?”

			“No, Joe, I cannot. She expressly told me not tell you. Joe, she doesn’t want to see you again.”

			The biggest regret in Wilderness’s life, the what-might-have-been, was Nell Burkhardt. Perhaps at thirty-five he was more middle-aged than Erno might ever imagine. To Erno he might seem impossibly young, too young to have regret, too young as yet to be haunted by the ghosts of the living. 

			He said nothing. He knew he could con, trick, or cajole Nell’s address out of the old man, but he wouldn’t. He could go round to the mayor’s office in Schöneberg and catch Nell at her work. But he knew he wouldn’t do that either. He would go home. “Home,” a word for him that had so little of the resonance it now seemed to have for “Hannah Schneider.”He stood up, took two hundred dollars from his wallet and put them under a candlestick on the mantelpiece. And noticing a large, square-headed nail protruding from the wall above the candlestick, he hung the key on it.

			“Too many symbols for one day, Erno.”

			He’d go home now.

			§6

			London: July 1

			Few women Wilderness had ever met could do rage like Judy Jones. ­Every year or so he’d make a trip to Petticoat Lane and restock the kitchen with cheap crockery to make up for plates thrown at him in the course of uxorial dispute. Every three months or so he’d slink off to one of the spare bedrooms and give her a fortnight’s cooling off before the inevitable reconciliation, which would begin with “You’re just being silly” or “Can’t we talk about this like grown-ups?” to which Wilderness would reply “We can talk about anything when you stop throwing things.”

			She hugged him on the doorstep. Flung the door open before he could even take his key from the lock. Arms around his neck, head pressed to his chest. And was that a hint of tears in her eyes?

			She drew back, and yes a tear was wiped away.

			“I’ve been so worried. Dad said you were in prison.”

			“Jail not prison.”

			“And then he came back without you.”

			“I’m here now. Any chance I could come in?”

			This made her smile.

			“You’d better. I want to know everything, and I’d rather not broadcast it to the neighbours.”

			Wilderness hefted his bag and followed her upstairs to the living room, but she’d gone up another two flights. He shucked off his jacket, followed the train of discarded clothing, to their bedroom on the top floor.

			Judy was in her bra and pants, pulling down the blind on the south-facing roof light.

			Wilderness stood in the doorway while she flung her underwear at him and peeled back the sheets.

			“I . . . I thought you wanted to know everything?”

			“Later, Wilderness, later.”

			She turned, yanked on his tie, dog on a lead, and pulled him on top of her, whispered in his ear.

			“Come on, togs off, you dozy bugger.”

			§7

			Afterwards he was churlish enough to wonder, “What was that about?” and enough of a gentleman not to ask aloud.

			Judy filled the gap, as though she had read his mind. He lay on his side, looking at the wall; she fitted herself spoon-like to the curve of his backside and said, “Never been with an old lag before.”

			“I told you, it was jail not prison.”

			“There’s a difference?”

			“Yes. And if I’ve suddenly become your bit of rough because I spent a couple of nights in the cells, then you’re forgetting . . . I was in the glasshouse when your dad found me in 1946.”

			“Oh . . . that’s just military prison. They can lock up who they like can’t they? This was the real McCoy. Nicked for a . . . well for whatever it was you did. And you’re not military any more.”

			Of course, Burne-Jones would ration what he told his daughter. Truth and lies were all the currency a spook needed. That he had told her he was in jail in Berlin spoke volumes. There was no necessity to tell her anything. He’d told Judy because he wanted her to know, wanted her to be the one to punish Wilderness. He’d be very surprised at the nature of the sentence. It would never occur to Burne-Jones that danger, jail, and whatever nonsense Judy was piling on to that would prove to be a turn-on, that, for as long as it lasted, Wilderness had entered Judy’s fiction. Her bit of rough.

			“Actually . . .”

			“Yeeees? Actually what, my old lag?”

			“I am military.”

			“Eh?”

			“I signed up. It was Alec’s condition for getting me out.”

			She rolled off him. He could hear her gathering steam. A 4-6-2 at King’s Cross couldn’t sound more pressurized. But then he noticed the calendar tacked to the wall just by her reading lamp, and the red rings around yesterday, today, and tomorrow, 30th, 1st and 2nd, and her explosion vanished into a vacuum. She was letting him have it, and he heard not a word. She stood by the bed, arms raised, breasts shaking, giving him the bollocking of a lifetime and all Wilderness could hear was the ticking of their biological clock.

			He’d been had. She’d had him. All their discussions about family usurped in moment. 

			§8

			He awoke, early he thought, but not so early that Judy had not already left for work—or left to avoid the row that was surely brewing.

			He made coffee, went back to bed, flipped on the radio, listened to Jack de Manio on the BBC, waiting for the next dropped brick, verbal gaffe or total lapse of manners.

			An hour or so later, no conclusion reached regarding wife and future family, he heard the crocodile snap of the letter box closing and the yowl the cat sent up to announce new post, which for some reason the animal confused with food—Wilderness had not named him Desperado for nothing.

			It was a letter in a Connaught Hotel envelope on Connaught Hotel paper. 

			Sorry kid. No dame no game. Consider this payment in full. Frank.

			Wilderness shook the envelope. A single green dollar bill floated down like the first fallen leaf of autumn, eddying to land in front of the cat, who sniffed in disgust and ran away.

			“Exactly,” thought Wilderness. “What I should have done.”

			The next time he saw Frank Spoleto coming he’d cross to the other side.

			For now, he was down $49,999 . . .  but he had a job again. A job he didn’t much want, but then he had always regarded the world as one made up of wolves and doors.

		

	
		
			II

			Alleyn

			For he might have been a Roosian,

			A French, or Turk, or Proosian,

			Or perhaps Itali-an!

			But in spite of all temptations

			To belong to other nations,

			He remains an Englishman!

			—W. S. Gilbert

			H.M.S. Pinafore, 1878

			§9

			Germany: May 1945

			They found Alleyn wandering—somewhere in Lower Saxony. His memory had left him, but the tatty remains of his RAF uniform and the dog tags strung around his neck were enough. They knew who Alleyn was before he did. 

			Two days later as bits of memory bobbed flotsam-like to the surface, he said, “Alleyn . . . Bernard Forbes Campbell Alleyn. Squadron leader,” and rattled off his number. The squadron number and base proved more elusive. All the same they knew.

			“Kelstern—625 Squadron. Welcome back, old man.”

			He had to admit, the cover was brilliant. Moscow had really delivered. Not for a moment, it seemed, did they—that is the English—doubt that he was who he appeared to be. Squadron Leader Bernard Forbes Campbell Alleyn, third generation Scots-Canadian from Perth, ­Ontario—sole survivor of half a dozen straying Lancasters blown from skies somewhere east of Dresden in February 1944.

			Alleyn was still alive when the Red Army overran Stalag Luft VIII-B in Silesia on St. Patrick’s Day 1945. Alive, but only just—badly burned and badly patched up, he had succumbed to pneumonia only a fortnight later . . . but by then Liubimov had sat at his bedside for seven days and nights, listened to his mortal ramblings and let the cloak of his identity float down upon him as Alleyn breathed his last. 

			The men who’d been interned with Alleyn would make their way home in nine months or a year—shipped back to Blighty via Odessa, the Dardanelles, the Med . . . and a bundle of excuses. 

			Those who’d known Alleyn well never would.

			§10

			Liubimov was a fair match. The same height as Alleyn, only a year or so younger, and a recent recipient of plastic surgery after the Riga Offensive. It was the last heroic piece of stupidity he would ever indulge in. He had had no need to be anywhere near the front line, and could have stayed in the rear, “mopping up” with the rest of the NKVD, but curiosity had almost killed him. This new adventure also might kill him, but at least no one was shooting at him. Indeed, some of the English officers who appeared regularly at his bedside didn’t even seem to be carrying weapons.

			“I’m a psychiatrist, old man. No need for a gun. The pen is mightier than the sword, and I rather think that applies to Webley and Smith and Wesson too.”

			“Ah. Do you think I’m mad?”

			“Not at all old man, but you have been through hell.”

			“Haven’t we all?”

			“Not really. I’ve never picked up as much as a scratch these last five years . . . but you . . . the trauma . . . the burns . . . the surgery.”

			“I don’t remember any of that. But I know, I remember, I flew Lancasters, so . . .” 

			Alleyn rubbed gently at the tight, shiny skin of his left cheek. 

			“So . . . I suppose, burning petrol?”

			“That does seem the most likely explanation. The Jerries seem to have made pretty good job of patching you up.”

			“Ah. Do you have a mirror?”

			“Nurse will bring you one later. Believe me you look fine. Positively handsome. But I’d rather like to shift the conversation back to my field of expertise.”

			“Ah. The mind.”

			“Yes, old man . . . your mind.”
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			The psychiatrist—his name was Hancock, but Alleyn found it convenient to pretend not to remember it from one session to the next—found very little wrong with Alleyn’s mind, and recommended immediate discharge once he was pronounced physically fit. 

			“Chances are you’ll remember everything in time,” Hancock told him.

			“I’d rather not,” Alleyn had replied. “If my memory is a jigsaw puzzle and I have some pieces and not others, then I think I’ve seen enough to prefer forgetting.”

			“As though of hemlock I had drunk?”

			“I have been half in love with easeful Death.”

			“Touché, Mr. Alleyn, touché.”

			It would, he realised, pay him to mug up his English literature. At least to mug up beyond the cardboard boundaries of the Oxford Book of English Verse, beyond the Dickens novels and the Kipling stories that had been his prep as a spy.

			They put him in a hospital out in the country, six or seven miles from Hanover—insulated from the wreck that was the Thousand-Year Reich. He found himself in a schloss, barely grazed by British shells, mostly intact, big airy rooms, high ceilings, and walled gardens. It was rather un-German. More than a touch Russian. It felt as though he had his own dacha. Looking back, years later, it seemed to him to have been one of the happiest months of his life. For all the deception and the rehearsal of lies that would be his identity and his modus operandi for years to come, he had felt content, protected, perhaps delighted. A burgeoning Continental summer, long days relaxing in the tangled gardens, dressing gown and pyjamas, patchy neglected lawns, unpruned apple trees, bobbing clusters of marigolds and Michaelmas daisies, sweet milky tea and something called Dundee cake, hidden from his fellow recuperants behind the twin shields of amnesia and psychiatry. The very word “psychiatry” seemed to undermine the English sangfroid. All a bit too Viennese, all rippling with sexual innuendo. They couldn’t even say it—instead they called it the trick-cyclist, as in, “Been under the trick-cyclist, old man, bloody bad luck, eh?” 

			He was to have just a weekly psychiatric session. To stimulate the mind and memory. He was to rest the body and recover, to build up the weight he had shed so rapidly in a month of self-imposed starvation, losing thirty-two pounds in a little under five weeks before they dropped him off the back of a Red Army truck just beyond the green border.

			They’d given him a small piece of cordite to swallow.

			“You’ll look grey for while. As though you’d lived on boiled spuds and lacked all the right vitamins. Just like a POW.”

			It tasted of nothing. A mild nausea as his stomach wrestled with digesting it. It was the real reason he’d asked for a mirror, not to see his scars. He knew them as well as he knew the back of his hand. He’d shaved them every day for eight months. It was to see if he was still grey the best part of a week later. He wasn’t. But nor did he look healthy and normal. He looked sick as a dog.

			Three British officers hacked away at a lawn, created a flat if lumpy clearing and hammered wrought iron into croquet hoops. Broom handles nailed onto wooden blocks served as the mallets.

			“Need a fourth, old man. Just like bridge. Feel up to it?”

			He was clueless. He caused fits of laughter when he whacked the ball with enough force to send it fifty yards past the hoop into the long grass.

			“Bloody funny place Canada,” one of them opined. “Don’t have Dundee cake, don’t play croquet. What do you chaps do over there?”

			“We sit in our igloos and freeze our bollocks off.”

			More laughter, hoots of laughter, backslapping, thigh-slapping laughter.

			And he realised how ill prepared he was, how little the NKVD had been able to teach him and how quickly he would learn. He would learn to play the Englishman. He was certain of it now.

			A month in the country and he’d regained about half the lost weight. He tipped the scales at ten stone exactly—which made him skinny at five foot eleven. And his skin, whilst not exactly rosy, had passed the pallor of death.

			After Hanover, Hamburg. Billeted with a host of other officers at the Atlantic Hotel—awaiting a flight home. Lancasters, which his alter ego had flown—and with which he had not the faintest ­familiarity—which had pounded Germany’s cities to dust, were now used as transports. The first offer came in in a matter of days. A short hop to RAF Kelstern. Far too risky. Whilst most of the squadron were dead or missing, there was a chance the ground crew might recognise him—or, worse, would fail to recognise him. He faked a stomach ache and lost his place in the queue. It was three weeks before the adjutant out at Fuhlsbüttel found him a flight. Another stripped and impotent Lancaster—he could at least now describe one, if asked, but God forbid anyone should ask him to fly one. That moment came sooner than he thought. Low over the North Sea the pilot invited him into the cockpit to take the flight engineer’s seat.

			“You can take her in if you like, old man.”

			“It’s been too long. Very kind of you, but far too long. One forgets.”

			He wondered about the “one”—his first dropped brick. Very English, scarcely Canadian. But the pilot seemed oblivious to pronouns.

			“Whatever you say, old man. Personally I don’t think I’ll ever be able forget. I’ll be flying a Lancaster in my dreams when I’m eighty.”

			Alleyn would have other dreams.

			They touched down at RAF Wyton, only twenty miles from Cambridge. 

			Cambridge suited him to perfection. He would be officially demobbed the minute he set foot on English soil. Cambridge was where Moscow had set up his first contact. They had, the NKVD had told him, plenty of willing hands and willing minds in Cambridge, still.

			“They’re idiots of course. But well-meaning, Marx-reading, Moscow-loving idiots.”

			One of the well-meaning, Marx-reading, Moscow-loving idiots found Alleyn a job almost at once. He had landed, crossed the first bridge—he had an identity, a passport, a demob suit and a job . . . B.F.C. Alleyn BSc (Toronto) of the Physics Department, King’s College, Cambridge. England looked strange to him. It was beginning to dawn on him that he did not look strange to England, that the red star riveted to his forehead was a figment of his very self-conscious imagination, that he was just another “bloke,” another middling Englishman in a decent job and a cheap suit.
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			Cambridge: May 1946

			In May of 1946 Alleyn was walking home from King’s, along the backs to his digs in Sidgwick Avenue, when he came across a damsel in distress. The chain had come off the rear sprocket on her Sturmey-Archer three-speed hub and she was crouched at the side of the path with a bicycle he had heard referred to as a sit-up-and-beg lying on its side. The young gentlemen of Cambridge passed her by with not a gentlemanly word.

			“Can I help?”

			“Oh, if you would. I know nothing about bikes. I just pump up the tyres every so often.”

			Alleyn had ridden his bike all over Moscow before the war. He had a British one. A Raleigh made in Nottingham. It was the proletarian Rolls-Royce. Identical to this but for the absence of a skirt-tangling crossbar. 

			He righted the bike.

			“Much easier to keep it upright. Would you mind picking up a couple of twigs?”

			She looked baffled but did as he asked, and while she held the handlebars Alleyn flicked the chain back on with the twigs. Then he held up his hands.

			“See? No oil.”

			The girl held up one of hers, black with grease.

			“I’m so sorry,” Alleyn said and fished in his pocket for a clean hanky. 

			“Oh, I couldn’t. It’s Irish linen.”

			“It’ll wash.”

			She took it.

			“Then I’ll wash it. And I’ll return it to you. You’ve been so kind. You must let me buy you a coffee one day soon.”

			Alleyn got a good look at the girl. Twenty-ish, almost as tall as he was himself, a wide mouth, good un-English teeth, red hair tied up at the back of her neck and a smile flickering in green eyes. 

			“I’d love to. You’re at Newnham?”

			They were so close to Newnham College, one of only two colleges that admitted women, it seemed logical that they might be neighbours.

			“No, Girton. So it really was rather important to get the bike fixed or I’d be pushing it for three miles. Look, my last exam is on Thursday morning. I’d like to buy you coffee. Do you know that little Italian place near King’s? Practically opposite King Henry’s statue?”

			He knew it.

			“Okeydokey. Shall we say half past twelve?”
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			“Do I detect an accent?”

			In the café L’Ombelico del Mondo—an affectation reduced simply to The Bellybutton by the students—the redhead had been waiting when Alleyn arrived. She had taken the elastic band from her hair and was shaking it free as he crossed the room.

			“Canada. I would hope it’s rather faint by now. I’ve been here since ’38. Do I detect an accent?”

			Now one hand brushed at the liberated mop of hair.

			“Well, if you do you have very good ears. I’m from Hertfordshire. Home counties King’s English. The voice of the BBC. A quite ordinary accent really . . . but my parents are Irish. Perhaps a hint of blarney?”

			“More than a hint I think.”

			Another sweep of the hand. 

			“You know, we haven’t introduced ourselves. I’m Kate Caladine, and I’m in my second year at Girton, reading English.”

			“And I’m Bernard Alleyn. I’m at King’s. But I’m not a student. I’m a demonstrator in physics. I got my degree long ago. In Canada.”

			“Hmm . . . Cambridge seems full of chaps about your age. You know, finishing their degrees now because the war sort of got in the way.”

			“Oh the war certainly got in my way.”

			“How long?”

			“Forty-two to forty-four in a Lancaster. Forty-four to forty-five in a Stalag Luft in Silesia.”

			He was, he realised, weaving quite a web. There was a limit to how much he knew about the real Alleyn simply because they had not had the time to learn or long enough with the man before he died. The first rule of impersonation was never deny a known fact and never invent a lie that can be easily contradicted by record. No one had been at all sure what the real Alleyn had been doing between the outbreak of war and volunteering for the RAF. It would have been easier had he arrived from Canada simply to volunteer in ’41. It would have been a clean line. The past put safely behind him and hence behind Liubimov. But he hadn’t, and that was a matter of record. No one was even sure he had a degree of any kind, but Liubimov was a physicist, so physics it had to be, and a diploma was mailed to him from the forgers at the London embassy, together with references from a Canadian academic who had conveniently died during the war. Alleyn—the real Alleyn—had muttered about living in Edinburgh in his dying and his rambling, and it would make sense never to go near Edinburgh. He hoped she wouldn’t ask now. He hoped that ubiquitous phrase “before the war” would not be used. He had nothing prepared.

			“Oh, you poor thing. Was it absolutely awful?”

			This helped. It was the textbook response. As easy to handle as his phony birth date.

			“Not entirely. I lost weight, I learnt some German . . . and I played a lot of table tennis.”

			She laughed. The big green, Irish eyes lit up. The tangle of hair shook.

			“Physics?” she said, clearly tacking away from what she saw as a painful matter despite her laughter. “I thought all you chaps were at the Cavendish.”

			“Oh no, by no means all of us. They’re the competition. Our cheeky younger brother.”

			She laughed at this too. Her laughter reminded him that he had been starved of laughter. Crossing Prussia with the Red Army had provided moments of laughter—black, vicious laughter, an all-pervading, self-congratulatory schadenfreude . . . you were alive, some other bugger wasn’t. That was always worth laughing at. He hadn’t heard a ­woman laugh in months. Even then it would only be the college cleaners’ morning-after-the-night-before ribaldry—indifferent to his presence. Now, a good-looking woman was laughing at something he had said. Words would not describe the pleasure that rippled up his spine, down his arms, to bring his skin up in tingling goose bumps.

			Just before she left, standing on the pavement in King’s Parade, she stuck out a hand, rather stiff and manly. Surprised, Alleyn shook and found she had slipped his handkerchief back into his hand, and as she walked off in the direction of Caius with not a backward glance, he squeezed the linen and felt something firmer than cloth. It was a tightly folded piece of paper: a note.

			7 o-clock, Saturday. Arts Theatre. Major Barbara. Meet me there. KC.

			He felt a flutter in his chest, a rapid increase in his pulse rate, heard the sound of his own beating heart, and with it the roar of suspicion and the howl of fear. Who the hell was Major Barbara? 
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			At Christmas the same year Kate and Bernard engaged to marry. He’d met her parents at the end of the summer, out at a worse-for-wear Victorian rectory perched on what passed for a hill in Hertfordshire. Her mother talked too much to ask any question that might have foxed him, and her father, a Church of England vicar, preferred to bury himself in his study and his sermons rather than bother with most of the responsibilities of parenthood. They accepted him as who he pretended to be.

			In the New Year of 1947, Bernard sat the Civil Service entrance exam and was accepted into the top (administrative) grade. At the interview he was told that the Service was delighted to receive applications from men with a scientific background.

			“So much of it is technical these days. The War Office is crying out for chaps like you.”

			War Office? Pay dirt.

			“Won’t you be sad to leave Cambridge?” his future mother-in-law asked.

			“A little. But the only future at King’s would be to transfer to the teaching staff and to do that I would need to publish and quite possibly write a PhD. I think I have better prospects at the War Office.”

			Mrs. Caladine had smiled at this, not quite the beguiling smile of her daughter—he had used a word so telling when marrying into an English family: “prospects.” Bernard Forbes Campbell Alleyn not only had an identity, he now had prospects. And had chosen the word after much careful thought.
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			In March he moved up to London. Cold, damp digs in Charlotte Street. A couple of fleeting, chilly visits from Kate. A constraining single bed. Winceyette sheets. Then in May she had sat her last exam. Nothing more to do.

			“You’ll be staying on for the May Ball, though?”

			The May Ball was always in June.

			“Bernard, have you ever been to a May Ball?”

			“No.”

			“Good. And we’ll neither of us be going to this one. Bunch of bloody Hooray Henries in penguin suits. I’d rather be here. I’d rather be here with you.”

			“We can’t stay here for ever,”

			Indeed they couldn’t. A senior Civil Service post proved highly ­mortgage-worthy and in an era of chronic housing shortage Alleyn considered himself extremely lucky to get a 972-year lease on a first-floor flat in Cholmondeley Road, Highgate. Mortgageable he might be, but he did not have the necessary two-hundred-pound deposit. The Rev. Caladine did and obliged. And in September 1947, newly wed, Mr. and Mrs. Bernard Alleyn moved into their new flat just in time for the coldest winter in God knows when, to huddle around a paraffin heater, hoping love might make them indifferent to temperatures in the low 20s.

			In 1949, their first child, Beatrice Perdita, was born. And in 1951 their second, Cordelia Rosalind.

			“I didn’t study Shakespeare for nothing, now did I?”

			“If you say so.”

			“I do say so. So there!”

			By 1955 Alleyn held a senior position in the Directorate of Military Operations and Intelligence equivalent to that of an army colonel; he answered to the Minister for War, dealt daily with generals, with MPs, with the Cabinet Secretary, advised select committees, nipped in and out of Downing Street, had an office overlooking Whitehall and a salary well beyond the glass wall of the thousand-a-year-man. With the housing shortage easing, Britain tentatively recovering from a war that whilst over seemed nonetheless eternal, he managed to buy the lease of the ground floor flat and put the late-Victorian red-brick and stained-glass villa back together. A house once more. A home once more. A family home. 

			The day he took a sledgehammer to the jerry-built partition in the hallway that had framed the door to the upper flat he counted as one of the most pleasing days of his life. Life held many pleasing days. Days when he could put one of Virginia Woolf’s ticks on the page of life. He had not imagined life could be this way. A round of simple and not-so-simple pleasures. Austerity be damned. Rationing be damned. Life was good. The girls’ names were down for Godolphin and Latymer School. Kate gave up teaching, stayed home and reviewed fiction for the Observer. Life was too good to be true.

			His home was his castle. The Englishman’s God-given right, even if the Englishman was a complete fake.

			And his contacts never called at the house. Everything he passed from the War Office to the Soviet Union was done by dead letter boxes or clandestine meetings in London parks. His home was his castle. It wasn’t England and it certainly wasn’t Russia. Russia was dour men barely glimpsed on meeting, grasping hands and muttered half-­somethings. Russia was . . . a world away. 

			Life was too good to be true . . . and it wasn’t.
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			London: November 1959

			Alleyn sat in his cell and waited. There seemed to be little else he could do. They’d confiscated his belt, his tie, and his cyanide capsule—not that he would have swallowed cyanide, and after this long was it even potent any more? Who knew? He didn’t.

			He’d asked for something to read and the day copper had brought him Just William by Richmal Crompton. He read it and counted it a gap in his training that he’d never read it before. All those Will Hay films he’d been force-fed, all those John Buchan novels and Rudyard Kipling short stories, and no one had thought that the preparation for the essential Englishman might include a grasp of the anarchy of a middle-class English childhood.

			He’d asked to see his wife and had been told that would not be possible, yet.

			He thought of the room as a cell—a door that was permanently locked, windows with the shutters nailed up and a permanent police presence just outside the door—but really it was the back bedroom of a Regency villa in Belsize Park used by MI5 as a safe house. At some point he was certain, he’d be taken to the cells, to Pentonville or Brixton, but not before they charged him and not before they’d finished interrogating him.

			Retired Chief Superintendent Westcott was a patient man and once he’d posed a question listened carefully to the answer, occasionally jotting something down in his notebook and courteously sharing his cigarettes.

			Alleyn answered as truthfully as he could, drawing the line at naming names.

			“Forgive me, Mr. Westcott, but what ideology I believe in is irrelevant now. It’s a matter of what I believe myself to be as a man.”

			Material was another matter. He told Westcott details, such as he could remember, of every document he’d passed to the Soviet Union, but after thirteen years the oldest memories were vague at best.

			It was three days before he was charged, and Westcott no longer being a serving police officer, the Special Branch inspector who’d arrested him on Millbank between office and home, on his way to the Underground, was called in to read him his rights and formally make the charge.

			Westcott was stuffing his pockets, gathering up his notebook, pencils . . . cigarettes. 

			Clutching the packet, he opened it and, finding only two of the twenty remaining, offered one to Alleyn saying, “We might as well split these.” 

			He held out his lighter and flicked it.

			As Alleyn took the first drag he said, “I know it will sound naïve, Mr. Westcott . . . but what will happen to me?”

			“That’s for the courts, but I think I should warn you that the death penalty still applies for treason.”

			His hand shook as he put the cigarette to his lips once more.

			“Really, I . . . I had no idea . . .”

			“Think of Lord Haw-Haw . . . think of young Amery.”

			“That was in wartime.”

			“Really, Mr. Alleyn, you think the Cold War isn’t war?”

			“No, I don’t think it is.”

			“They were British subjects who betrayed their country. No different from you and what you have done.”

			For a few stretched moments they smoked in silence. Alleyn had known he might come to this bridge one day or the next and had no idea if he would ever cross it. But Westcott made it easier for him.

			“Spit it out, man. There’s something. I know there’s something.”

			“I am not a traitor.”

			Westcott sighed.

			“I am not a British subject.”

			“What?”

			“I am not a traitor, I am a spy. My name is Leonid L’vovich Liubimov. A captain of the KGB, or at least I was the last time I checked.”

			Westcott turned to the policeman.

			“Sorry to ask this of you, George, but would you mind nipping out for some more fags? Forty Capstan. And ask the lad downstairs to put on a pot of coffee.”

			Then he turned back to Alleyn, motioned him to sit with a hand patting the air.

			“Shall we begin again, Mr. Alleyn?”
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			“Lies, Bernard! Lies!”

			Alleyn knew it would be like this and had dreaded it whilst hoping for it. It might just have been better in the safe house or in a room at Scotland Yard, where everything was not naked brick and two shades of mud, but his captors were offering him no favours and his first meeting with his wife since his arrest was in a visiting room at Brixton Prison, where he was on remand awaiting trial.

			“I can only say I’m sorry.”

			“You have lied to me for over ten years, you lied to my family, you lied to your own children—”

			“I don’t suppose—?”

			“Bernard don’t you dare bloody ask! You fucker, you complete fucker. See the children? See the children? Don’t you bloody dare ask me that!”

			“I would like to . . . to have seen them.”

			“Really? And what do you think I should tell them? That daddy’s in prison? That daddy isn’t daddy—”

			“I am still their father.”

			“That daddy isn’t Bernard Forbes Campbell Alleyn, he’s . . . whatever your fucking name is!”

			“Liubimov,” he said, not much above a whisper.

			“And you expect two little girls to get their tongues round that?”

			“Kate, I’m sorry.”

			“Stop fucking saying that!”

			Her anger hit a gap, an empty space in her own rage that did nothing to diminish it. She hated him as much in silence as in noise—he could feel it like a fist across the table, punching him under the heart.

			She fumbled in her handbag for her cigarettes. Did not offer him one. Lit up and exhaled at length, the plume of smoke hanging in the stillness of air between them.

			“When will the trial be?”

			“Before Christmas I’m told. It should be quick. I’m told they’ve been gathering evidence for weeks, and of course I’ll plead guilty. That should speed things up.”

			“London?”

			“The Old Bailey.”

			“So you’ll be up there with . . . with . . . with Dr. Crippen and Neville Heath.”

			“I’m not a murderer, Kate.”

			“Really? You think so? Try talking to that ex-copper who came to see me. He seems to think you have blood on your hands. All the men you betrayed.”

			“All I did was pass on documents.”

			“And Westcott says that got people killed.”

			“He’s wrong. They told me—”

			“They?”

			“The Russians.”

			“The Russians? Your people.”

			“Yes . . . my people . . . assured me no lives were at risk.”

			“And you believed them?”

			He knew she was right, he knew Westcott was right, and there was nothing he could say to this.

			“Oh God, you’re so bloody naïve. You’ve always been a bit of a ­dreamer, a romantic. It was one of the reasons I was attracted to you . . . it was one of the reasons I loved you.”

			The past tense was telling.

			“But what you don’t seem to be able to grasp is that you have betrayed people, not pieces of paper, and the people you have betrayed most of all are your children. When Westcott came . . . came with three Special Branch coppers and turned the house over I had to pretend I’d lost one of my diamond earrings and the nice men had come to help me look for it. Do you have any idea how humiliating that was? Lying to my children to protect their shit of a father. And this was when we still thought you were Bernard Alleyn. There is no way I can ever tell them who you really are. There’s no way I can ever tell them what you are.”

			She swept a lock of red hair out of her face. Another momentary silence that he could only fill with another apology, the sorry machine on autopilot, the refrain that would punctuate the rest of his life, and what was the point of that? He’d tell her he loved her but was certain this would simply drive her to rage.

			“There’s only one thing I can do,” she said. “I must get them out of London before the trial. They must know nothing about it. I’ll take them to my sister’s in Wales. And . . . and I’ll change our name.”

			“Really Kate . . .”

			“Well we’re not Alleyns are we? I mean, bloody hell, Bernard, we never were Alleyns . . . we were Lub . . . Lub . . .”

			“Liubimov.”

			She stubbed out the cigarette and stood up. Turned her back on him.

			“A name I cannot even fucking pronounce. Oh God, Bernard, what have you done?”

			“Changing your name might be a good idea.”

			She only half looked at him. A glance over her shoulder, not enough to hide the tears.

			“Well you have two, one that sounds like pure fucking gobbledegook and the other a complete liability. I can’t go back to being Caladine. Or I’ll take my mother’s maiden name. Oscar Wilde’s wife did something like that when he went to prison. That should lose the scent. The press won’t find us.”

			“What? Howard?”

			“It’s as good as anything.”

			“You’ll be Catherine Howard?”

			“I can feel one of your tasteless jokes coming on, Bernard. Just don’t say it. In fact don’t ever say another fucking word to me.”

			“But . . . the children, my girls.”

			Now she turned fully, her face a ragged mask of red-raw skin and streaming tears.

			“You’ll never see them again. You have no children.”

		

	
		
			III

			Masefield

			It did not occur to him, an ordinary run-of-the-mill copper,

			that intelligence officers who work because of ideological

			motives and patriotism instead of for money are people of a

			special mold; people whose lives are dedicated to danger, to

			whom arrest is an everyday possibility, and who are

			prepared to accept severe punishment with equanimity as

			an inevitable occupational hazard.

			—Gordon Lonsdale/Konon Molody

			Spy, 1965 
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			London: 1960 

			Masefield resembled a grown-up version of the fifties cartoon character Nigel Molesworth—the plump, bespectacled prep-school duffer from the sketchbook of Ronald Searle. He’d even heard others call him this derogatory name in the invisible corridors of secrets that ran parallel to the corridors of power in St. James’s.

			Molesworth—fat and useless.

			He’d grown a moustache for a host of reasons . . . to look more “distinguished” (whatever that meant—grey hair was distinguished, bald wasn’t), to look “posher” (which meant growing the right kind of ­moustache—pencil-thin, all but drawn on with Marlene Dietrich’s eyebrow pencil, was fine, a yard brush wasn’t, a Hitler toothbrush wasn’t), and lastly to look less like Nigel Molesworth. But who knew what Molesworth would grow up to look like? Masefield did. He was damn sure that any day now Searle would come up with an image of the mature Molesworth and he would be a dead ringer for Geoffrey Masefield.
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